Llandovery Castle and the Clifford Family

Bruce Coplestone-Crow

INTRODUCTION
If one visits the small market town of Llandovery, in the
beautiful Tywi valley, today the castle makes little impact
on the visitor, its relatively insignificant ruins being
islanded between the Afon Gwydderig and a large car
park, almost as though it was an embarrassment. When
built in the 12th century the castle was one of the most
important to be established by the Normans in the
Welsh kingdom of Deheubarth. Rhys ap Tewdwr, king
of Deheubarth, was killed by Normans in Brycheiniog
(Brecknock) in 1093 and this opened the floodgates for
the invaders. Castles were built at Cardigan, Pembroke
and near Carmarthen in short order, but it was another
thirteen years before Llandovery Castle came into being.
The builder was Richard fitzPons of Clifford, who had
Cantref Bychan by grant of king Henry L. Richard and
his sons established a lordship there centred on Llan-
dovery Castle. The building of the castle was a provoca-
tive act in that it lay in the upper reaches of the Tywi
valley in the heart of the Welsh kingdom, and this
together with its strategic position at the point where
three side valleys meet the main Tywi valley meant that
it was much fought-over. Eventually, Rhys ap Gruffudd
(‘the lord Rhys’), grandson of Rhys ap Tewdwr, took the
castle in 1162 and retained it (apart from possible
Clifford possession in 1190-3) until his death in 1197.
After this, the castle and its lordship (or sometimes just
the castle or all or part of the lordship) changed hands
with bewildering frequency over the next eighty years as
his successors fought over their inheritance. The Cliffords
also held it at various times during these years, or so
they claimed. Except for fleeting moments afterwards,
the castle passed permanently out of Welsh ownership
1 it was captured by king Edward I's forces in 1277.
ears later it was handed over to John Giffard, a
entative of the Clifford family via his wife.
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RICHARD riTzPONS OF CLIFFORD
Richard was one of five sons of Pons (Pontius), a
Frenchman who came to England at the Conquest.
After Hastings, Pons received a small barony consisting
of twenty-four estates, most of them in Herefordshire
but with some in the neighbouring counties of Worces-
tershire and Gloucestershire. He was dead by 1080,
when his barony was being shared by his two eldest
sons, Drogo and Walter." Drogo fitzPons had by far the
larger part of his father’s barony, including Clifford
(which was held under Ralph I de Tosny, baron of
Clifford and Flamstead), with only a small parc passing
to Walter. All their lands passed to their brother Richard
(who held no lands independently at Domesday) after
their deaths, which had occurred before 1100. It is
likely, in fact, that Drogo had died before 1093, since it
was probably Richard, who took part in the conquest of
the Welsh kingdom of Brycheiniog, immediately to the
west of Clifford, by Bernard de Neufmarché in that
year, and he is unlikely to have had the resources to do
so if he had not already supplanted Drogo (if not Walter
as well). His reward was the grant of an estate at Bron-
llys on which he built the motte-and-bailey castle that
underlies the present stone castle. It was also in the
1090s, probably, that he received from William Rufus
lands at Clifford and in the nearby Golden Valley that
had belonged to Gilbert fitzThorold, sheriff of Here-
fordshire, in 1086, Gilbert having forfeited his lands for
treason. These new lands® augmented and extended his
holding on the Welsh border, and he doubtless used
these enlarged resources to maintain himself at Clifford
(where he was probably castellan under Tosny), Bronllys
and, evenrually, Llandovery and Cantref Bychan.

That Richard had Llandovery and Cantref Bychan by
grant of king Henry T of England (1100-35) is clear
from an entry in the Welsh chronicle Brut y Tywysogyon
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Fig. 1: The Lordship of Llandovery and Surrounding Lands.

for the year 1116 which says that he was the man to
whom king Henry had given Cantref Bychan.® Precisely
when the gift took place is unknown, but it is likely to
have been in 1106. In that year king Henry divided
up the principality of Ystrad Tywi — consisting of the
cantrefs (Welsh Jocal administrative divisions similar to
the English hundred) of Cantref Mawr, Cantref
Bychan, Kidwelly (with Carnwyllion) and Gower (see
map, Fig. 1) - after the death of one Hywel ap Gronw,
the man to whom he had given it. In the process he gave
Gower to the earl of Warwick, Kidwelly to the bishop of
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Salisbury, and Cantref Bychan, probably, to Richad
fitzPons. Richard had been among the earliest knighs
and barons to support Henry in his seizure of the throne
after the death of William Rufus in August 1100, and
the gift of Cantref Bychan may have been his reward
He was already established at Clifford and Bronllys o
the border of Wales, so the grant represented a maj
step forward into the interior of the country. U‘:
evidence shows that the grant was in return for ”‘
service of one knight’s fee at the royal castle of Cnfﬂme
then” Kidwelly and Gower were held for the s
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service and this may indicate that the grant (;f thoiz
Jordships and of Cantref Bychan were .n*.mde on t 1e‘smlll

occasion and the result of a single decision. HlstolnC_ﬂ 'y:

Cantref Bychan contained three commotes (m‘mm.lsi

crative divisions smaller than a cantref), Hirfryn (LCI“I{CI(

on Llandovery), Perfedd (centred on l,lnngﬂd“g) ““‘I IS

Cennen, but the last of these rcmn.incd lnrgcl?r in }VC sh

hands and so did not form part of the lnrds.hlp of Ui"{‘“

dovery established by Richard fitzPons ill\(l lns-sncccssm.s.
Ha.vinn received Cantref Bychan from l(l!]g};llfllly
fizPons moved swiftly to secure his hold on it. I hlS'hC

did by building his chief castle at Llandovery (.ho.us‘mg

his cl{;mccr\' and exchequer) in the commote of Hu‘(ryn.

with a subﬁdiﬂ[\' one at Llangadog in the commote of

Perfedd. At Llandovery a natural rocky hillock on the

banks of the Afon Gwydderig that was probably the site

of the Zys or chief court of the Welsh lord of Hirfryn,
was scafped to form a motte-and-bailey castle.® He may
also be the author of the motte-and-bailey castle (made
by inserting a small motte in the northern corner of a
Roman fortlet) on Trecastell Hill, four miles to the
south-east of Llandovery. The fortlet had been built to
control the Roman road between Cicucium (Brecon
Gaer) and Alabum (Llanfair-ar-y-bryn) as it passed over
that hill’ and the castle was probably needed for the
same purpose.

Close to his new castle at Llandovery, Richard will
have found two pre-existing churches. One of these was
St Dincat’s (Llandingad), now the parish church of
Llandovery. Dincat was a reputed son of Brychan,
eponymous founder of the kingdom of Brycheiniog in
the 5th century.’ In the ‘Life’ of St Paulinus written by
Wrmonoc the Breton in 884, Dincat’s church stands in
the district of Brebant Dincat in which lived ‘count
Porphyrius’, father of St Paulinus.” Brebant Dincat
means ‘Dincat’s gorge’," the reference being to the narrow
valley of the Afon Gwydderig, east of Llandovery, close
by the Roman road over Trecastell Hill that Dincat ap

Brychan would have used to travel to and from Brych-
einiog. The modern A40 road, first built in 1769, twists

and turns through this gorge on its way between Brecon
and Llandovery.

The other church close to his castle was the one at
Llanfair-ar-y-bryn, half a mile to the north-east and
within the ruined defences of a Roman auxiliary fort.
This fort is called Alabum in the 7th century Ravenna
Cosmogmph_y. The church is now dedicated to St Mary,
but this probably dates only from the time when
Richard gave it to Great Malvern Priory (whose own
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chu'rch was dedicated to the Virgin). Its original
dedicatee was probably St Paulinus (also known as St
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Paul Aurelian)," whose father was ‘count’ of the district.

According to Wrmonoc, at the age of sixteen Paulinus

3 - - .
went forth and sought the seclusion of a certain desert
place adjoined to his fathers possessions’ where ‘he built

some cells and a little oratory’ for a community of

twelve priests.” This ‘desert place’ was probably Alabum,
his “oratory” being situated within the second of three
successively smaller Roman forts revealed by excavation
and geophysical survey (all of which had gone out of use
by ¢.130 AD)" and perhaps built from the remains of its
walls. Paulinus’s priestly community within (or imme-
diately adjacent to) a Roman fortification can thus be
added to those already known elsewhere in Wales, such
as St Tatheus at Caerwent, St Teulyddog at Carmarthen
and St Cybi at Holyhead. Wrmonoc says further that
two of his brothers founded the ‘church of the Two
Saints’, Llanddeusant, a few miles south of Llandovery.
He then proceeds to confuse their foundation with
Paulinus’s, probably because his information, which he
got from a transmarini, was faulty. Most auxiliary forts
developed a wicus or civilian settlement outside its
defences which could last long after it had gone out of
use. Alabum’s vicus lay on its north-east side and several
phases of structures have been found by geophysical
survey and excavation that may indicate that this hap-
pened here. Possibly, it was only abandoned when the
local leader or ‘count’ (Dincat or Porphyrius?) estab-
lished his //ys on the rocky mound now occupied by the
medieval castle. Although there is no evidence as yet of
the site being used before the construction of the castle,
its situation must have invited fortification from an
early date.

Paulinus became a renowned teacher. According to
Rhygifarch’s Life of St David (written in the 1090s),
David ‘went to Paulinus the scribe . . . who in a certain
island was leading a life pleasing to God.™ In this con-
text, ‘island’” means a location withdrawn from everyday
life, where a life of contemplation and prayer could be
followed, rather than a geographical one. (In a 12th
century recession of the ‘Life’ (Bodleian MS Digby 112)
this ‘island’ is called Wincdi-lantquendi, a place-name so
utterly corrupt as to defy reasonable explanation.)”” Never-
theless, Alabum’s situation could easily be described as
‘islanded’, its ancient defences proscribing the area dedi-
cated to God. The Dincat connection was responsible
for the transference of the cult of Paulinus to Llangorse
in Brycheiniog.
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As Llangadog was an estate belonging to the bishop
of St David’s, Richard built his castle (another motte-
and-bailey) outside this estate, half a mile south, at a
location now known as Castell Meurig. Llangadog had
the alternative (or earlier) name of Luchewein, ‘Owain’s
Marsh (or Pool)’, referred to in the Annales Cambriae in
1205 and 1208." This place-name occurs as Llweh Fwin
in Culbweh and Olwen, the carliest surviving Arthurian
tale. There it is one of several places at which the boar
Twrch Trwyth stands at bay when being pursued across
South Wales by Arthur and his knights."” The natural
feature suggested by the place-name probably lies at the
point where the Afon Brin and Afon Sawdde join the
Tywi just to the west of St Cadog’s church. The area is
still very boggy.

To further consolidate his power in Cantref Bychan,
Richard founded a town under the protection of his
castle at Llandovery (to provide a useful income) and a
priory church at Llanfair-ar-y-bryn (to provide for his
immortal soul). The town he filled with English
burgesses (the Welsh having no notion of towns) and is
first referred to in existing sources in about the year
1186 (see below), when its burgesses were still English
in origin. Its burgage-plots were laid out on the north
side of the present Broad Street and the Market Sqtfare
(the south side probably coming within an outer bailey
of the castle) and on both sides of Broad Street cast of

the Marker Square as far as its junction with Bridge
Streer. The origins of the bishop’s very small town at
Llangadog are unknown, but, as at Llandovery, it must
have looked to Richard’s castle for protection.”

The priory church Richard founded at Llanfair-ar-y-
bryn was a cell of the Benedictine priory of Great
Malvern in Worcestershire. King Henry was a great
benefactor of Grear Malvern and encouraged his barons
to copy him. It helped that Anglo-Norman adventurers

in Wales such as Richard regarded the founding of
monastic churches within their newly conquered terri-
tories as much instruments of conquest, subjugation
and settlement as the castle. In some cases this meant
the founding of new monasteries on virgin sites, but in
others (perhaps most) they were founded in old Welsh
clas or mother churches, their semi-secular communities
of canons or clergy under a lay abbot being replaced by
Benedictine monks drawn from an English (or Norman)
abbey or priory. In Richard’s case the second of these
two alternatives was adopted, the claswyr in St Paulinus’s
church — the ‘church of his castle of Cantref Bychan’ -
being replaced with monks from Great Malvern. The
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present structure of the church is largely late medieyy):
architectural detail, although it shows signs of Onl
having been a large and important church, early Notrg,

in date and cruciform in plan.® This was the Ch‘lrch
that replaced Paulinus’s ‘oratory’. Its nave may
Richard’s work,”" as also may the two carved Romanesqye
capitals thought to have come from a free-standin
structure within a church or chapel,” probably (but not
certainly) St Mary’s church. These capitals represent
“I'he Fall’, with ‘Eve’ given the artitude of a Sheela-na-
gig, and ‘Adam’ an uninhibited response. They were
found built into the wall of the porch at Cynghordy
Iall in the 19th century.”” Their origins are sometimes
connected with a ‘Cistercian monastic grange of Cynfab
"T'here was, however, no monastic grange
(Cistercian or otherwise) at Cynghordy, ah;o“gh t\ile
Cistercian abbey of Strata Florida had one at Nant-y-ba

in the valley of the Afon Tywi (Wbefe""“deed’ at Ystrad-
ffin, there was 2 chapel of St P,aulm.us). A \ett.f:r gk
Erasmus Saunders, Edward Lhuyd’s s anistant
. Carmarthenshire, dating from 1693 melrimtxons 2 pack
of old ruins at the east end of the d}urd}. These c'ould
have been the remains of Paul'mgs’s cells’ or rr,lore hktj-\y’
perhaps, an eghvys-y-bedd or “grave chapel S“‘“‘%mg
separately from the cht‘lrch as at a number of locations
in Wales and EnglandfC

To Great Malvern Richard gave the church of his
castle in Cantref Bychan, two carucates of land, the
tithe of all his revenues there and the tithe of his
demesnes at The Bage in the Golden Valley.” Evidence
of ridge-and-furrow ploughing the north-west and
south-east of the church found by aerial photography
may represent efforts by the monks to bring their two
carucates of land into production.” On another
occasion he gave the church of Fastleach Martin in
Gloucestershire, together with one and a quarter hides
of land and certain tithes.”” Like other ‘castle-priories
established by the Normans in Wales, such as Cardigan
(‘Llanddwy’), St Clear’s and Kidwelly, there were
probably never more than a prior and two or three
monks in residence at St Marys. They made litde
contribution to the religious life of the area and were
effectively not much more than rent-collectors for their
main church.® Unlike the other priories, however, this
one lasted only some seventy or eighty years before It
was suppressed by the lord Rhys and the bishop of &t
David’s (see below).

As already noted, Richard’s presence at Llandovery i
first recorded in 1116, when the castle was atracked b

at Cynghordy’.
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~dd. son of Rhys ap Tewdwr and .hc.lr tolth:
e }.L)“lll?llbklrlll.'}“lc had gone into exile in Ire an.(
thrOf.‘Cf’ l *“c death in 1093, returning to Wales only !n
B :‘Lrt lu“ lived quietly on his ancestral lands. in
l‘l 13-“?‘“‘:_( butin 1116 he launched a widc-r;“}glng
::_::lr: o‘n ‘:\nglo-Nnrmnn castles in sm]n.h—wcst Wales.
i-{lx\'ixxg first attacked a castle at Narberth:

_he went to Llandovery. where was a castle of a
;»\:min leader called Richard fitzPons, to whom
king Henry had given Cantref Bychan, m:@ he
tric:i to breach it and to set it on fire, but he failed;
for the keepers of the castle, and Maredudd ap
Rhvdderch ap Caradog along with them — the
man who held the stewardship under the said
Richard — resisted him. Nevertheless, he burned
the outer castle. And after he had been shot ar
trom the tower and many of his men had been

wounded by arrows and others killed, he turned
back again.”

After this Gruffudd went on to besiege Carmarthen
Castle, which he also failed to take. One of the defenders
of this castle on behalf of the Normans, however,
Owain Wan, second-cousin to Maredudd g
2p Caradog, defender of Llandovery, and current repre-
senranve of the ruling line of Gwynllwg in Gwent.
Rhydderch ab lestyn, the common ancestor of these
men, had ruled all South Wales in 1023-33, so it was
doubtless through him that they could lay some claim
to the loyalties of the Welsh of Deheubarth, though
they themselves had evidently thrown in their lot with
the Norman invaders. The ‘ower from which the

defenders shot their arrows probably stood on the
morte.

was

p Rhydderch

Cantref Bychan, of course, lay well within Wales and
at some distance from Richard’s nearest castle at Bron-
llys in Brycheiniog, which was not terribly convenient

for him. To close the gap he eventually acquired the
lordship of Cantref Selyf in Bernard de Neufmarché’s
barony of Brecknock (see map, Fig. 1), but this did not
happen until after Sybil, Bernard’s heiress, had married
Miles, son of Walter fitzRoger, sheriff of Gloucester
(and father of Richard’s wife, Maud), in 1121. Bernard
was now old (he had been in the Congqueror’s military
household in the 1070s) and had but a few more years
to live, and it seems likely that this marriage was arranged
so that his new son-in-law could govern Brecknock, if
nothing more, on his behalf. As a dynastic marriage
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between two of the most powerful Anglo
families of the Welsh border, the Marriage re
king’s approval, and this s given in thebfor
riage contract between the WO parties. This congract
details what was to Pass to Miles with hig wife, buc as it
names the holders of only

. four out of the five sub-
lordships known o have existed in Brecknock in the

L Pencellj (Roger de Baskerville),
Hay (William Revel), Crughywel (Robert de Turbeville)

and Tretower (Picard) — iy s clear that Richard did p
then have the fifth, Cantref Selyf. The wording of the
marriage contract also makes this clear, saying, in words
that would not have beer used if Richard had Cantref
Selyf, that ‘all the land of Brecknock as far as the boun-
dary of Richard fitzPons, that is, as far as Cantref Bychan’
was to pass to Miles with his wife It seems certain,
therefore, that Cantref Selyf was a lordship specially
created by Miles for his brother-in-law, who now com-
bined this new lordship with the holding he already had
at Bronllys, the whole being held from the lord of Breck-
nock by the service of five knights.” Prior to this, prob-
ably in 1115-21, Richard had been with Neufi

marché
to witness a charter concerning the church in William
Revel's sub-lordship of Hay.*

As a man active in 1086, Richard was himself advanced
in years by the time he acquired Cantref Selyf. It is doubt-
less for this reason that soon afterwards he took a leaf
out of Neufmarch¢’s book and placed his heir in charge
of some of his lands. In his case it was his eldest son
Simon and the lands involved were at Cantref Bychan
and in the Golden Valley. At Cantref Bychan, Simon set
himself up in the castle at Llandovery with his own
Jamilia or military household. Some of these men are
named in a charter of 1127 in which Richard moved to
make provision for his daughter Bertha when she
married Ellis 1T Giffard (of Brimpsfield in Gloucester-
shire) by giving her the manor of Ullingswick in Here-
fordshire. As, however, this manor was his wife Maud’s
marriage portion he needed to give her his manor of
Eastleach Martin in Gloucestershire in exchange. The
deed in which this was effected was witnessed by many
important men of his acquaintance (such as Walter his
brother and Miles of Gloucester his brother-in-law), but
not his son and heir. His acquiescence in the exchange
was of course essential because it affected his inheri-
tance, so Richard sought him out ‘in Cantref Bychan’
(in Cantelbochan) to obrain his assent. This he gave in
the form of addenda to the original deed and in which
he waived his rights in return for a gold ring. It was

-Norman

quired the

m of a mar-

12th and later centuries —

ot
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¢ Llandovery Castle and was

made in the presence of members of his own familia:
Ellis Giffard (his new brother-in-law), Humphrey,
William Brace. Richard de Lawastina, Robert de Caristo,
Ralph Dubblel. Ralph of Hereford, Adam fitzWilliam
and Robert fitzWyard.™

Simon also had his father's manors in the (
Vallev of Herefordshire (those that had belonged o
Dmgn fitzPons and Gilbert fitz Thorold in 1086) before
the latters death. When Richard wished to give his wife
the manor of Aston Blank in Gloucestershire (again
is sons inheritance), Simon ‘his son and heir

almost certainly issued a
solden

within h
and then a knight’ was absent once more. This time he
was in Smzdia (the Golden Valley) and on this occasion
it was his mother Maud who gave him a gold ring in
return for his assent.™ The expression ‘then a knight’
used in this deed suggests that Simon had only just
reached his age of majority when it was issued. Round
dates it to ‘¢ 1127, and, if right, suggests that Richard
married Maud (a second wife?) at about the time he was
given Cantref Bychan, when he was approaching middle
age.

In the summer months of 1127 Richard travelled
with Miles of Gloucester, his brother-in-law, to Here-
ford to meet king Henry. There he persuaded the king
10 include the grants he had made to Great Malvern
Priory in Cantref Bychan, Eastleach Martin and Bache
(for all of which Simon had now given his consent) in a
charter of general confirmation. In this deed Richard’s

grant is described as:

... the church of the castle of Richard fitzPons in
Cantref Bychan and two carucates of land there,
and all the tithes of Richard of all his revenues of
that land, and the church of Eastleach (Martin)
and one hide and one virgate of land in that vill,
and the tithe of the demesne of Richard in the
!and of Straddle (Estradel) thar is called Bache

just as the aforesaid Richard and Matilda his wiﬁ;
and Simon his son gave and granted them.”

hi:(lx;har:s journc)f to Hereford must have been one of
namcd[-- € was still alive in April 1128, when he(?
l b
L]anda{fn( ‘:h?:}fall l.)ull as a despoiler of the church (isf
claimed that Cangref Bychan was in
n its

diocese),” 1 :
utas he ﬁoc]s notappear on the pipe roll that
yamas 1129, may well haye been
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SIMON FITZPONS OF CLIFFORD, SON QF
RICHARD
Simon, his successor at Clifford, Llandovery and else
where, did not long outlive his father. He foundeq .
Cluniac house subject to Lewes Priory at Clifford,® b,
died without heirs of his body sometime before Sep.
rember 1139, ten years or less after his father.

In the absence of heirs, king Stephen (1 135-54)
allowed his brother Walter to succeed him. Walter wag
in possession of his brother's English fief in the period
July 1137 to September 1139, when he appears 1n a
list of landholders in Herefordshire drawn up in the
exchequer,” but preciscly when he succeeded Simon jg
unknown. Walter was the first recorded member of hjg
family to assume the locative surname ‘of Clifford’.

WALTER 1 OF CLIFFORD
Walter took up his responsibilities at Llandovery 4 A
time when the Welsh were ma%(ing strenuous effores ¢
remove the Anglo-Normans from their country, Th,
death of king Henry in December 1135 was imp,,
diately followed by attempts by the Welsh to Tegain 4
the lands lost to them in the previous half—cemury 6
more. This had varying degrees of success, but iy ;
thought that Llandovery had come into the hangs OSF
Gruffudd ap Rhys of Deheubarth (he who had faileq ,
take it nineteen years earlier) before his death in 1137?3
Whether it was taken from Simon fitzPons or Walter.f
Clifford is difficult to say, but it now remained in W, 10h
hands for up to twenty years. ®
The struggle against the Anglo-Normans in Wi
begun at this time continued under Gruffudd’s four soes
— Anarawd, Cadell, Maredudd and Rhys (see Fig. Z)T[
was, however, Hywel ap Maredudd, son of the Marcdl;dd
ap Rhydderch who had held Llandovery Castle fi
Richard fitzPons in 1116, who is described as ‘lord of
Cantref Bychan’ when he died in 1141.% Hywel ws
replaced in Cantref Bychan by Anarawd, the eldestof
Gruffudc'i’s sons. He was killed in 1143 and Cadell, his
brothe.r, incapacitated by a severe beating by the mend
Tenby in 1151. Maredudd, the third brother, then becan
leader of Fhe Welsh of Deheubarth, but he died four yes
later leaving Rhys ap Gruffudd, the last of the brothes
He was to rule Deheubarth and, at times, much o
Sc.)uth-west Wales for nearly half a century, and such ¥
tls stature‘ in the politics of the age that he bea™
nown as ‘the lord Rhys’ and even ‘Rhys the Great -
As Llandovery and Cantref Bychan had been 2™

grant to Walter’s grandfather, king Henry II (1154'89)
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Wales in 1158, Both campaigns were intended to curb
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dve was achieved when the royal army drove the Welsh

shilli as accounted
v, but only ten shillings was accoun

regained Llandovery, and  the gift

prince into the remoter areas of his tcrritoric§ and (?bligegl

him to give up all the conquests he and his family had

made since the death of Henry 1 in 1135, Walter of

Clifford took immediate possession of Llandovery and

then began to recoup some of his lost revenues with a

raid on neighbouring lands belonging to Rhys. As a

contemporary chronicle puts it, after the king had

returned to England, Walter ‘who then owned the castle
of Llandovery, gathered spoil from Rhyss territory
which was next to him and slew his men’. The attack
was probably on the commote of Mallaen, which lay in
Cantref Mawr just across the Tywi from Llandovery.
Rhys made the raid known to the king, but as he was
otherwise engaged, he and his war-band went against
Llandovery Castle and took it.* Only a matter of weeks
later the king rerurned to Deheubarth for a second
campaign. Again he forced Rhys to give up what he had
taken and (this time) give hostages for his future good
behaviour. One possible long-term result of the year’s
acuvities was that Mallaen, whose location made it
desirable thar it should be in the same hands, came to
be associated with the castle. Indeed, the purpose of
Walter’s raid may have been as much to make Mallaen
an appendage of his castle as to recoup some of his lost
revenues. Walter should now have expected to resume
possession of Llandovery Castle, but, instead, it was
rerained by king Henry as part of a policy to contain
Rhys within his ancestral lands in Cantref Mawr. He
did, however, retain possession of the town of Llan-
dovery and the lordship in Cantref Bychan.

Over the next four years Henry spent £305-13s-0d
on the castle.” Only a small part of it was on building
work, however, the vast majority of it being for its
manning and maintenance. Building was ne‘vcrthclc?s’
regarded as a priority, £41 on construction at ‘the castle

The Carmarthenshire Antiqumy xlvii 2011
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more.”™ The great size of (he expenditure on manning
v 1 [ \ 1 7 ; b
and maintaining the castle, however. i a clear indication
ap Gruffudd’s

) 1159/60, for
example, £35-35-6d was Spent on wages for ten knights

and serjeants (men-at-arms) at the castle. In the follow-
ing year £63 was expended on the wag

serjeants and £82-125-0d on those of knights alone,
both sums by the hand of Philip de Broy. Phillip held the
manor of Aylton, Herefordshire, from the king by

of how serious the crown regarded Rhys
threat to the security of the areq. In

es of knights and

serjeanty tenure, and his involvement with Llandovery
Castle may have resulted from this. His father Geoffrey
had been condemned by the Pope as a despoiler of
the diocese of Llandaff in 1119, so the family may also
have had a landed interest in Cantref Bychan.”” Another

£44-125-6d for wages of knights was paid into the hand

of Walter of Clifford in the same year, so, if not the

possessor of the castle, Walter was still involved with ir.

A final £21 was spent on wages for knights in 1161/2.*

Only this small amount was required (either that, or the
garrison had been reduced sufficiently for the castle to
become a tempting targer) because Rhys ap Gruffudd
attacked and took the castle early in 1162.%" As the king
was absent on the continent at the time, he compen-
sated Walter with a grant of the great manor of
Corfham in Shropshire.” The value of this manor to
Wialter (and thus possibly of his lost lordship in Cantref
Bychan) can probably be gaged from the fact tha after
his death in 1190 his younger son Richard proffered the
crown the large sum of £200 for it.”® Even so, the
lordship was too poor in resources for its Clifford lords
to consider granting out lands in return for knight
service, which is something they certainly did on their

lands at Clifford and Cantref Selyf.

RHYS AP GRUFFUDD (THE LORD RHYS)

After he had taken the castle in 1162, Llandovery and
its lordship were kept by Rhys until his death thirty-five
years later. During this time he maintained the castle
and even lived in it from time to time.* He also patron-
ised and protected the borough. Great Malvern’s priory,
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landovery Castle and the Clifford Family

was another matter: this he was cvcntu}ally
cause of the libidinous behaviour
folk of the town, or so

however,
obliged to suppress be
of its monks towards the women
it was alleged.

Gerald of Wales tel

priory came about. He had ap ‘ | l
: : e Wels ‘ince, whom the
Henry on an embassy to the Welsh prince,

Enclish king had made his ‘justice in all Deheubarth' in
an :..nwrd made between them at Pembroke in Sep-
tember 1171 which had seen the king confirm him in

Is how the suppression of the
parently been sent by king

possession of Cantref Bychan, against the interests of

Walter of Clifford.™ He gives no date for it, as usual, It
could have been made in 1185, when an uprising by the
Welsh of Glamorgan would have made it imperative
that the king retain Rhys’s loyalty. An alternative could
be about May in the following year, after king Henry
had returned from France (27 April)® intent on a cam-
paign in Galloway (which, in the event, never took
place):

I found Rhys in his castle of Llandovery in the
province of Cantref Bychan, he himself forthwith,
like the kindly and discreet man he was, came
down from the fortress to an orchard that lay
about the castle to hear in private the message the
king had sent. And when he heard it in full, and
we were turning back, we saw three or four monks
not far off seated on a hill within sight of us and
waiting that they might by our intervention
be reconciled to the prince whom they had
grievously offended, as they had entreated us to
do so on our coming thither. And when I spoke to
him on this matter, he replied that if we had
known what manner of men they were and how
evil was their living, we should most certainly
never have uttered a word on their behalf; he said
also thar the burgesses of the castle were ready one
and all to leave his town and retire to England, for
the sake of their wives and daughters whom these
monks frequently and openly abused. He showed
us also a young and beardless monk among them,
who to make himself chaste had castrated himself
a little before that time, but to no purpose; for he
asserted that he was not withstanding far more
given to lust and filthiness than all the rest of
them. Bur at our instance and entreaty he [Rhys]
granted our request that they might remain there
in hope of the reformation that they promised
and the mending of their ways. But a lictle after,
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since their vice abated not nor was the

removed these monks were one and all ¢

and clerks set in their places, by order

prince and of the bishop of the diocese.”
The suppression m ty therefore have come in 1185 o,
1186, and almost certainly before Gerald Accompanieg
the .'nchl)iﬁlmp of Canterbury on his tour of Waleg
preaching the Crusade in 1188, Gerald blamed the
lascivious behaviour of the monks, but it probably had
more to do with the fact that Grear Malvern was a cell
of Westminster Abbey. Rhys may therefore have sus-
pected its monks of sending reports of his activities right
to the heart of | lenry’s administration (this is possibly
the ‘grievous offence’ the monks gave him), a situatiop
he would not have tolerated, despite the accord betwegy,
them.™ After the suppression, Malvern’s monks’ langg
were taken by the bishop, Peter de Leia, as endowmep,
for a college of clerks to serve the ch.urch. Each of the
clerks was allocated lands for his maintenance, one of
these prebends being reserved for a C}C:’k appointed by
Great Malvern Priory, which was possibly the price of i
acquiescence in the destruction of its priory® [y i
possible that bishop Peter saw them as a replacement fy
the community of priests set up there by St Pauliny
centuries before, but we cannot be certain of thy
Nothing more is known of them. The advowson of th
church was retained by the lord Rhys and passed 1o hj
secular descendants including, eventually, the king of
England.

While king Henry 11 lived the accord he had reached
with the lord Rhys meant that a level of peace was main-
tained in South Wales and the March. When he diedin
1189, however, Rhys regarded it as null and void and
this together with king Richard’s apparent reluctance
accept his homage resulted in him attacking Englih
lordships in south-west Wales. Despite this, Llandovey
appears to have returned to Clifford hands at this time.
According to a claim made many years later, Walter Il o
Clifford (1190-1220) held the commote of Perfedd
(and its castle ‘of Llangadog, presumably) ‘in tim_e of
peace’ in the reign of king Richard (1189-99) untl k¢
‘was ejected by the power and force of one Hywel #
Maredudd’ . This claim was made at a time when Job?
Giffard (d.1299) was trying to prove his right 1 Llax
dovery and its lordship through his wife, the daughte
and heiress of Walter III of Clifford (d.1263). Thc.toml
of Llandovery (but not the castle, which was then I?
king’s hands, though it did eventually come to Giffa
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Fig. 2: The Descendants of Rhys ap Gruffudd.

and the commote of Hirfryn were the subject of a
separate claim which almost certainly (though the pre-
cise dertails are missing) said that Walter II had once had
them and had also been ejected from them by Hywel ap
Maredudd. Hywel is described as an ancestor of Rhys
Wyndod, great-great-grandson of the lord Rhys and
possessor of Llandovery until 1277, but he is not known
to have had an ancestor of that name. Possibly, there-
fore, he was being confused with Hywel Sais, son of the
lord Rhys, who supported his father’s attacks in 1189.
This Hywel was in possession of Llandovery Castle in
1193 when he destroyed it after successful campaigns
against the English had left him with too many castles
to hold with the military resources at his command.”
Possibly, therefore, 1190-93 was the time when Whalter
IT of Clifford had had the lordship of Llandovery before
being ejected by Hywel Sais.
The destruction wrought by Hywel Sais on Llandovery
Castle in 1193 cannot have made it completely unten-
able, however, because only two years later Rhys Gryg
and Maredudd ap Rhys, two of his brothers, took the
‘castle of Cantref Bychan with the consent of the men of
the land’.” Shortly afterwards Rhys and Maredudd were
imprisoned by the lord Rhys, their father, bur Maredudd
seems to have been back in possession of Llandovery by
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the time he was killed in Carnwyllian by the men of
William 1T of London, lord of Kidwelly, in 1201.%

THE SONS OF RHYS AP GRUFFUDD (see Fig. 2)
After the lord Rhys's death in 1197 the unity he had
struggled to achieve and maintain over the course of
forty years broke down. Gruffudd, his eldest legitimate
son, seems to have been regarded as his heir, but the
partibility of inheritance under Welsh law meant that he
had four brothers contending with him for their share.
Llandovery Castle and its lordship seem to have been
regarded as particularly worth fighting for, and over the
course of two generations after the death of Maredudd
changed hands on bewilderingly frequent occasions.
Immediately after Maredudd’s death his elder brother
Gruffudd took possession of Llandovery Castle (oppido
llanamdewri)** and Cantref Bychan. He, however, died
suddenly within a month, leaving two sons, Rhys (known
as Rhys leuanc, ‘the Younger’, to distinguish him from
Rhys Gryg, brother to Maredudd and Gruffudd) and
Owain.” Before the end of the year Rhys Gryg had taken
Llandovery from these brothers,” but at Michaelmas
1202 Rhys leuanc, now lord of Dinefwr, the ancestral
home of the dynasty of Deheubarth in Cantref Mawr,
and his war-band managed to retake it ‘by diligence and
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Llandovery Castle and the Clifford Family

invention’. Later that year Rhys leuanc (described as
‘Rhys son of Gruffudd son of Rhys the Great (Resi
magni)’) was probably at Llandovery to issue a charter to
the abbey of Strata Florida granting it all the pasture in
Cantref Bychan in a deed witnessed by his mother
Maud (de Braose), Adam his clerk and others.”
At this point, Maclgwn, another son of the lord Rhys
(and Gruffudd’s bitterest enemy), entered the contest.
Allied with Gwenwynwyn, lord of southern Powys, he
took the castles of Llandovery and Llangadog from his
nephews in 1203 with the aid of catapults and slings,
the garrisons in them being driven away. Then, to
remove Hywel Sais, his brother and a previous holder of
Llandovery, from the equation, Macelgwn brought about
his death in Cemais in 1204. Shortly afterwards the
brothers Rhys and Owain, together with Rhys Gryg,
their uncle, ‘manfully’ drove Maclgwn out of the castles
of Dinefwr and Llandovery, which two castles were ‘the
bolts and stays of all his territory and all else he had to
his name’.*™ The victors then divided his lands between
them, the brothers taking Llandovery and its lordship as
their share and Rhys Gryg Dinefwr and the remainder.
Two years later we find Cadwallon ap Hywel (of the line
of Maelienydd in Rhwng Gwy a Hafren and evidently
an ally of Rhys and Owain) at Llandovery to issue a
deed selling land in Arwystli to Strata Marcella Abbey.”
The pact berween Rhys Gryg and his nephews that
had enabled them to achieve so much soon broke down.
Rhys Gryg was not satisfied with his share and in 1206
began to contest possession of Llangadog and Perfedd
with his nephews. By now the growing power in Wales
of Llywelyn Fawr of Gwynedd was being felt in the south
and it was with his encouragement, and with the aid of
some ‘French’ (i.e. Anglo-Norman) allies, that Rhys Gryg
burned the castle at Llangadog (castellum Luchewein),
killing all within it.” The brothers immediately rebuilt
it so that Rhys Gryg was obliged to return at Michael-
mas 1208 and burn castellum Luchewein for a second

time. Some of the captured garrison Rhys then im-
prisoned and others he blinded.”

Having thus lost the southern half of their lordship of
Llandovery to Rhys Gryg, the brothers sought the aid of
Llywelyn Fawr in obtaining additional lands. He
obliged them by giving them all of Ceredigion north of
the Aeron that had previously been held by Maelgwn ap
Rhys. That same year the brothers also obtained the aid
of the agents of king John of England holding the
lordship of Brecknock (John having taken that lordship

from William de Braose, his former favourite) in regain-

ing Llangadog. With their assistance they returneq
attack it and, after killing some of the garrisop a;
capturing others, they burned it on 24 May 1209 »

By the end of 1209, therefore, Rhys and Owajp had
been restored to their former position at Llandovery ang
had added to it the two northern-most cantrefs of Ceye_
digion. This situation changed within a year, howeve,
In 1210 king John brought an army through Soug,
Wales on his way to Ireland, where he intended ¢,
campaign against the disgraced William de Draose ang
his Anglo-Irish allies. Having had the formidable power
of the Einglish throne amply demonstrated, many Welsh
lords ill()ll;"lll it ;n'n(|f'm to break their alliance with
Llywelyn and swear fealty to John. The twe Srothers,
however, were not among them and, indeed, began to
intrigue with Llywelyn against the English king. John’s
response was to encourage Rhys Gryg to take Llandovcry
from the brothers. With the assistance of royal forces:

. . . he gained possession of the castle of Llay.
dovery. For the garrison, having despaired of )|
help, surrendered the castle with sixteen steeds ip
it, on the feast of St Mary in September [8th Sep-
tember], on condition that the garrison should
have their bodies and all that was theirs safe.”

John then encouraged Maelgwn ap Rhys, its forme
lord, to dislodge them from northern Ceredigion, by
they defeated him in battle at Cilcennen and his exped:
tion failed.

In the following year Llywelyn himself was the targe
when John brought a powerful army into North Wales.
The Welsh prince was forced to capitulate to the
English king in the face of overwhelming military force,
and without his support the brothers' position in
Ceredigion and elsewhere became untenable. They
therefore went to England to make their peace with the
king, Llywelyn’s own charter of submission was issued
on 11 August” and the brothers’ charter seems to date
from the same time. Only a minute of their deed is now
known, although this is sufficient to show that Johns
price for his benevolence towards them was very high I
runs as follows:

Charter of Rhys ap Gruffudd and Owai.n his
brother in which they demise and quitdalm n
perpetuity to John, king of England, for th,e

remittance of his ill will towards them, al theﬁf
land in the honour of Cardigan, all the land”
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Cantref Bychan with the castle of Llandovery and
Al the land of Mallaen.”

hing in
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e e)l(cc} trl:)i;zie ::vllong-rcrm effect, however, as they
0~f :‘ililfl:?l[l.]t:d\ '.1t‘thc Council of Oxford in July 1215 in
:;fe aétermnth of Magna Carta.” . "

Over the next two years Llywelyn built up an _a iance

of Welsh princes whose suppo'rt gave him the

confidence to take from John and his agents those lands

he had been forced to yield. These allies included Rhys
Grve and Maelgwn ap Rhys, but not Rhys leuanc and
his brother. They kept faith with the English king, and
he now sent them to Wales with orders to attack Mael-
own in Ceredigion. They met with no success, however,
and by early in 1213 they were sufficiently isolated for
Rhys (doubtless speaking for himself and his brother) to
realise that whereas Rhys Gryg, Maelgwn and others
had done well out of their change of allegiance to
Llywelyn, *he alone had no portion of his patrimony’.
True to their word, the brothers now sought the king’s
help in regaining Llandovery and its lordship, if nothing
more.” John’s response was to threaten to drive Rhys
Gryg from all his lands unless he surrendered ‘the castle
of Llandovery and the land [Cantref Bychan]’ to the
brothers. And when Rhys Gryg vowed ‘that he would
not share with them a single acre of land’, he commis-
sioned the sheriffs of Hereford and Glamorgan (Engelard
de Cigogné and Faukes de Breauté, two of his hated
mercenary captains) to assist the brothers in carrying
out his threat. Rhys and Owain went to Brecknock
(their mother, Maud, being a daughter of William III de
Braose, lord of Brecknock until his disgrace in 1208)
and raised an army, and together with the two sheriffs
they defeated Rhys Gryg in battle near Talley in January
1213. Rhys fled to his castle at Dinefwr, having first
fortified Llandovery Castle ‘with men and arms and
food and engines and other necessities’.”® Thus, when
Rhys Ieuanc captured Dinefwr, he and his family were
forced to seck refuge with his brother Maelgwn in
Ceredigion. With insufficient forces at his command to
take Llandovery, Rhys leuanc returned to Brecknock for
reinforcements and, having raised a fresh force of Welsh
and ‘Frenchy’, returned to besiege the castle. The garrison,
however, surrendered ‘on condition that they should be
granted their lives and their members’ even before they
had encamped before it.” The two bro.thcrs then pro-
ceeded to take all their uncle’s lands in Ystrad Tywi.
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Later in the year the homel
but failed to mend fences wi
at Carmarthen by royal for

Llywelyn Fawrs attem
under his rule gained

ess Rhys Gryg, having tried
th his nephews, was captured
ces and placed in prison.

Cmpts to unite all Welshmen
: ned fresh impetus after the failure of
John’s great continental campaign  against Philip of

" . g et :
France in 1214, His growing problems with his barons
also helped Liywelyn, and b

‘ y the following year virually
all the leaders of the Welsh J

had recognised his
This brought reconciliation be

Maelgwn ap Rhys, his uncle, and in May 1215, whil
Llywelyn attacked Shrewsbury,
Dyfed, bringing all the Welsh there under their rule,
apart from those of Cemaes. A little later RI
‘gathered a host of immense size,” and descended on
Kidwelly,” Carnwyllion and Gower, bringing all three
territories under his power. The crown’s reaction was to
release Rhys Gryg from imprisonment at Carmarthen in
the hope that he would form an opposition party to his
nephews as he had in the past.”’ He, however, did no
more than make common cause with them (and with
his brother Maelgwn) to assist Llywelyn Fawr in con-
quering almost all of Deheubarth apart from parts of
western Dyfed.

At Aberdyfi in January 1216 Llywelyn Fawr divided
the spoils of conquest among the surviving members of
the ruling house of Deheubarth. Llandovery, together
with the commote of Mallaen in Cantref Mawr and the
manor of Myddfai in the commote of Perfedd, were
given to Maelgwn ap Rhys. The remainder of Perfedd,
with Is Cennen, Kidwelly, Gower and the whole of
Cantref Mawr, went to Rhys Gryg. As their share, the
brothers Rhys leuanc and Owain were given the whole
of Ceredigion except for the commotes of Mabwynion
and Gwynionydd, which went to Maelgwn.” After this,
neither they nor their descendants ever ruled in Llan-
dovery again.

Maelgwn ap Rhys retained Llandovery for several
years after the events at Aberdyfi. Sometime in these
years, it appears, bishop Iorwerth of St David’s gained
some form of over-lordship of Cantref Bychan. This is
demonstrated in an agreement of 1222 in which Mael-
gwn ap Rhys and Maelgwn ‘the Younger’ (Maelgwn
Vychan), his son, acknowledged the right of the church
of St David and its bishop:

primacy.
tween Rhys Teuanc and

they campaigned in

1ys leuanc

. .. to the whole land of Llandovery with appur-
tenances. The bishop, with the consent of Maelgwn
the Elder, shall receive the homage of Maelgwn
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Llandovery Castle and the Clifford Family

the Younger for that land, to be held of the bish'op
of St David’s and his church by the F.ol}()wmg
service: whenever the bishop oF.Sr D:wnds‘shal]
pass through those parts, if the bishop so \VlShC.S,
the said Maelgwn shall give him safe Fonduct in
going and returning and shall make his procura-
tion to the bishop in the castle of Llandovery at
least once a year, and the men of that tenement, at
the summons of the bishop, shall go in his army
as other men of St David.*

Bishop lorwerth claimed that his current agreement was
based on one previously reached between lord Rhys and
a previous bishop, but nothing is known of this.*
Within five years of this agreement Llandovery had
come into the hands of Rhys Gryg once more, any over-
lordship by the bishop now (apparently) being set aside.
J. Beverley Smith has suggested thar this came about
after Rhys leuanc’s death without heirs of his body in
August 1222. The king of England entrusted his lands
to Llywelyn Fawr of Gwynedd and it is possible that he
induced Maelgwn to give Llandovery to Rhys Gryg in
return for a share of Rhys Ieuanc’s lands in Ceredigion.”
However that may be, Llandovery was certainly in Rhys
Gryg's hands in 1227, when, having become impatient
at his ageing father’s continuing grip on power, Rhys
Mechyll, his son, captured him in Is Cennen. The price
of his release was the surrender of Llandovery Castle.*
Thar, ar least, was the course of events according to
Welsh sources. As with events thirty years before, the
Clifford family had their own version. In this, Rhys
Gryg held Llandovery and its commote of Hirfryn
under Walter III of Clifford (1220-63) and not on his
own account. This was apparently on the same basis as
Maredudd ap Rhydderch had had the keeping of Llan-
dovery under Richard fitzPons in 1116, because after
the death of Rhys Gryg in 1233 (they said) Walter had
given Llandovery and its lordship to Rhys Mechyll, his
son, to hold as his bailiff. Subsequently, however, ‘in a
time of war between Welsh and English’ Rhys Mechyll
‘by force and power, had unjustly detained the lands
and occupied them throughout all his life’.” Rhys
Mechyll succeeded his father in 1233 and died in 1244,
so the ‘war’ is probably a reference to the 1233-4 rebel-
lion of the earl of Pembroke against king Henry III and
the foreign favourites at his court, Walter was a supporter
of the earl, and his temporary loss of Clifford to royal
forces in September 1233 may have encouraged Rhys to
repudiate his over-lordship at Llandovery.
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to the ‘French’ out of enmity for Rhys Fychan h
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Rhys died in 1244 leaving several under-4
It is said that Maud de Braose (daughter of
Braose of Brecknock), his widow, then m

eldest son. Rhys Fychan obtained Carreg Cenney,
- LB o4 1
1248," but he had a cousin, Maredudd ap Rhys Gryn
who coveted Llandovery as a territory once held by h-’
, is

tather. Maredudd was already lord of much of Cantref
Mawr when his father died in 1233, and since Rhys
Vychan claimed later that it had been taken from him
in time of war it seems that he used the gener,)
uprising of the Welsh under Dafydd ap Llywelyn Fay,
of Gwynedd in 1244 as an Opportunity to gain Llag.
dovery.

Rhys Vychan now turned to the king of England for
redress. On 20 August 1246 he and his brothers made
their homage to Henry at Woodstock® and early in the
next year he came against Maredudd ap Rhys Gryg in
curia regis for restitution of the castle of Llandovery with
appurtenances. These, he said, had been taken from him
with the aid of the king’s enemies in warrime. This plea
progressed through the royal court until the Hilary Term
of 1248, when it was apparently concorded, as a result
of which Maredudd was in charge at Llandovery in the
following year when he fell foul of bishop Thomas of S
David’s over the presentation to the church. (Maredudd
had the advowson in his hands as heir to the lord Rhys,
who had retained it for himself on the suppression of
the Benedictine priory.) In August bishop Thomas noti-
fied king Henry that he had excommunicated Maredudd
in respect of its advowson. In October the constable of
Carmarthen reported to Robert Walerand, king’s justice,
concerning an inquisition of ‘darrien presentment
between bishop Thomas and Maredudd ap Rhys. This
assize, on which sat several Welshmen from the neigh-
bourhood of Llandovery, said that Rhys Gryg, father of
Maredudd, had presented the last parson of the church
and that the advowson belonged to Maredudd as hi
son.” Bishop Thomas did not accept the verdict, how
ever, and the dispute was ongoing in June 1251, when
he suspended Maredudd’s excommunication for a time
‘in the hope that peace may meanwhile be made berveen
his church and Maredudd and his men’.” _

Rhys Vychan, meanwhile, though no longer in po*
session of Llandovery, was still lord of Dincfwr I
Cantref Mawr and high in the king’s favour. In Febffml};
1251 he and his men were placed under the k”‘gs
special protection.” To counter this, Maredudd ap R
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the month they set out from C.armarthefx with a large

army to attack Maredudd. During the night, however,

Rhys Vychan slipped away to join Maredudd and on

the following day the two men defeated the English

army. Soon afterwards Llywelyn managed to reconcile

Maredudd and Rhys,™ as a result of which Rhys recovered

Llandovery and Hirfryn.

As was normal between the heirs of the lord Rhys,

that reconciliation was only temporary. By October
1257 the king had tempted Maredudd away from his
allegiance to Llywelyn with promises of reinstatement
in all his lands in Deheubarth. On the 18th of the
month Maredudd made his homage to king Henry and
in return the king proposed that he should have all his
hereditary lands, including the commotes of Hirfryn
and Mallaen with the castle of Llandovery, plus Drys-
lwyn Castle, Is Cennen commote and all the lands of
Rhys Vychan, ally of Llywelyn ap Gruffudd.” Llywelyn
(whose sister was married to Rhys Vychan) now punished
Maredudd for his desertion with a raid on the valley of
the Tywi in 1258 in which all his lands were ravaged.
Maredudd himself was wounded in a battle at Cilgerran
in which Patrick de Chaworth of Kidwelly, the royal
steward at Carmarthen, was killed.” This raid resulted
in the commote of Perfedd — the southern half of the
lordship of Llandovery (its northern half already being
in his hands) — and many other lands, being restored to
Rhys Vychan.

When next they appear in the records in 1270, how-
ever, Llandovery and Hirfryn were in the hands of
Maredudd ap Gruffudd of Caerleon. He was a grandson
of that Maredudd ap Rhys ap Gruffudd, lord of Llan-
dovery, who had been slain in 1201 and so had a claim
on it through him. He died at his castle of Llandovery
on 19 October 1270 leaving a son called Morgan.”
Morgan entered into his inheritance and then travelled

to Snowdon to do homage to Llywelyn. Llywelyn, how-

imself t
ched himse
g:ﬁfudd of Gwyne

ber. In a short cam-
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ever, ejected him from Llandovery and restored it
to Rhys Fychan. Rhys died at hig castle of Dinefwr on
17 August 1271, less than 3 vear later, leavine a son
Rhys (known as Rhys Wyndod) as his heir, Mabredudd
ap Rhys Gryg, meanwhile, his arch-rival for Llandovery,

had' died at his castle of Dryslwyn just three weeks
carlier, leaving a son called (inevitably and confusingly)
Rhys.” ‘ o

RHYS WYNDOD AND Tt {IE GIFFARD FAMILY.
HEIRS OF CLIFFORD h
Rhys Wyndod retained Llandovery from 1270 until it
was lost to English forces seven years later, d
first war between Llywelyn ap Gruffudd of
and king Edward 1 of England. In May 1276 Llywelyn
complained to king Edward that Payn, son of Patrick de
Chaworth of Kidwelly, had committed ‘plunderings and
murders’ in the lands of his barons. A month later he

further advised Edward that:

uring the

Gwynedd

The sons of Payn de Chaworth . . . have, with a
multitude of armed men invaded the lands of
Llywelyn’s vassals and nephews, the sons of Rhys
Vychan [i.e. Rhys Wyndod and his brothers], and

have done much damage there . . '

By November, negotiations with Llywelyn over his
refusal to do homage to Edward as his overlord having
been broken off, three armies were being assembled to
invade his lands. One of these was based at Carmarthen
under the command of Payn de Chaworth, and included
a force under John Giffard, husband of the heiress of
Wialter IIT of Clifford. Payn set out from Carmarthen
early in 1277 and by 11 April had secured the surrender
of Dinefwr Castle from Rhys ap Maredudd ap Rhys
Gryg. Chaworth then despatched Giffard to deal with
Llandovery while he moved north-west over the hills in
the direction of Aberystwyth. It seems (from ‘grievances’
against the king and the royal forces that Rhys later
brought to the notice of the archbishop of Canterbury)
that at this point Rhys sought out Payn de Chaworth in
his tent and in heated discussions over the terms of his
surrender six of his men lost their lives. The killing of
these men was perhaps Payn’s revenge for the death
of his brother, Harvey, at their hands in the previous
year. According to those same ‘grievances’ the conquest
of Rhys’s lordship of Llandovery had resulted in many
‘enormities’ being committed on its churches by Payn
and his men. At Llangadog, for instance, stables had
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Llandovery Castle and the Clifford Family

David’s church there.
¢, taken away all its
uses and wounded its priest before
the high alear, leaving him for d‘cnd. Also, ll.lj clu;rlcll]“(f
Llandovery (probably St Mary’s), the Ch.H.IK 1 -(:1 Rl,]‘ B
wrda in Mallaen and other unnnmt':d Chlll‘lf 1c; i n ']):;(_{
lands were spoilod and burned, their chalices, books

4l other ornaments anc .

Despite all that had gone on, 1t - yreced
that Rhys \\")'ndod \\'01{|d retain  the commotes of
Mall;wn.. Hirfryn and Perfedd (and Is Cennen), but not
Dinefwr and his other lands. Nor would he have the

ade of the bishop of St

been 71 ‘played the harlo

They had then

goods, burnt all its ho

{ goods’ taken.""
¢ was eventually agreed

castles of Llandovery and Carreg Cennen, these being
the castles which, on 2 June, Chaworth was instructed
to regain in the king’s hands and provide for their custody
as securely as possible. At the same time the men of
Rhys Wyndod were permitted to hold their lands and
tenements as before until the king should decide what
further should be be done.™ On 11 September 1278
the king presented one John of Kempsford to the living
of the church of Llandovery (St Mary’s), which living he
had by right of conquest from Rhys Wyndod." As Payn
de Chaworth was baron of Kempsford, Gloucestershire
(as well as Kidwelly), it is clear that he put his own man
forward to the king for presentation. On 24 June in the
same yvear Rhys Wyndod and Rhys ap Maredudd and
many other leaders of the Welsh of Deheubarth went to
Worcester to render their homage to king Edward. Hav-
ing done so, Rhys ap Maredudd was allowed to return
home to Dryslwyn, but Rhys Wyndod was detained at
court until 7 October, when he had safe conduct in ‘going
with his horses, harness and men to his own parts’."”
In June 1280 the castles of Llandovery, Dinefwr and
Carreg Cennen and their appurtenances were assigned
by the king to the keeping of Bogo de Knoville."” This
was until John Giffard of Brimpsfield, second husband
of Matilda, daughter and heiress of Walter I1I Clifford
(who had died in 1263) could prove his right to it
through his wife. Early in the previous year she and her
husband had set out before the king what they saw as
her right as her father’s heir to the lordship of Llan-
dovery. Their plea was principally against Rhys Wyndod,
but Rhys ap Maredudd ap Rhys Gryg and Morgan ap
Maredudd were also involved. Maud and John Giffard
claimed against them the commotes of Hirfryn and
Perfedd and the vill of Llandovery, but not the castle,
which was in the king’s hands. Together these made up
what they said was the marcher barony or lordship of

Llandovery in Cantref Bychan, which barony was held
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of the king in chief." The plea was still in progress thre
years later when Rhys Wyndod joined Llywelyn at
Gruffudd in his final war against Edward 1. 4

On 26 March 1282 David, brother to Llywelyn 4
Gruffudd, together with Gruffudd and Llywelyr?

brothers to Rhys Wyndod ‘lord of Is Cenner’, and many
others, took the king's castles at Llandovery ﬁnd Carreg
Cennen by weachery. [landovery was soon retaken,
hf,n\xiwcr' and on 14 April the king committed it to John
Fnll‘ml during pleasure, commanding that he strengthen
it as he saw fit for the security of the area at the king’s
expense.” On 2 June Giffard was granted full pos-
session of the castle that had belonged to Rhys Wyndod,

‘the king’s enemy and felon’.” On 16 August Giffard
was empowered to bring the Welsh of the commotes of
Hirfyn and Perfedd to the king’s peace,'” thus effec.
tively bringing the barony or lordship of Llandovery
into the hands of the Clifford heir. In November 1283
king Edward granted to John Giffard, for his services in

the recent wars in Wales, Is Cennen (the third commote

of historical Cantref Bychan) -
knight's fee.!"" That same yeat bishop Thomas Beck of
St David’s established a college of canons in Llangadog
Church in expiation of recent bloodshed in the area. As
he himself put it, ‘in order that the places of Ystrad
Tywi, places hitherto of lamentation, death and slaughter,
may be turned into places of spiritual joy and of homage
to the Redeemer, and of safe refuge and surety to the

> 112

country round about.
In 1287 Rhys ap Maredudd of Dryslwyn, who had
sided with the king of England in the war of 12823
(and received a knighthood as a result), provoked by
Robert de Tibetot, the king’s justice of Carmarthen,
broke out in revolt and on 8 June captured Llandovery
Castle, along with Dinefwr and Carreg Cennen.”
These, however, were soon recovered by royal forces and
the lordship of Cantref Bychan placed (because of
Giffard’s unimpressive conduct at the time) in the hands
of Humphrey V de Bohun, earl of Hereford and Essex
He held them until king Edward returned them ©
Giffard on 13 October 1289."* Rhys ap Maredudd
escaped but was captured in 1292 and put t death. On
his death it was said that Rhys Gryg, his grandfatht’
had, ‘held the body of the castle of Llandovery with &
commotes of Hirfryn and Perfedd in his demesne as?
fee from Llywelyn ap Gruffudd, formerly prince ©
Wales, by Welsh services and customs . The recor :
inaccurate insofar as Rhys Gryg had died before Lb’“’ebﬂc
ap Gruffudd became prince of Gwynedd. It may we

for the service of one
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